017

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

| F | SID | ر ـــ J. Wi | | ノ |
|-------------|-------|----------------|-------|----------|
| <i>\int</i> | DEC | 27 | 1991 | |
| CLEF | K, SU | REN | лE da | OURT |
| Ву | Chie | Deputy | Clerk | |

| GENE | SALSER, |) | | | |
|-------|---------------|---|--------|----|--------|
| | Petitioner, | } | | | |
| vs . | | } | CASE N | 0. | 78,439 |
| STATI | E OF FLORIDA, |) | | | |
| | Respondent, | j | | | |

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR SEMINOLE COUNTY FLORIDA

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON MERITS

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

MICHAEL S. BECKER
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
FLORIDA BAR NO. 0267082
112-A Orange Avenue

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 17, 1989, Petitioner, Mr. Gene Salser, appeared for first appearance following his arrest for the offense of armed robbery. (R 629) A public defender was appointed to represent Mr. Salser at this time. (R 629) On March 13, 1989, Mr. Salser appeared in court without counsel for purposes of arraignment. (R 632) The State requested a four week continuance and the matter was set for March 16, 1989, far a status review. (R 632) On March 16, 1989, Mr. Salser again appeared in Court without counsel and since the State had still not filed formal charges, Mr. Salser was released without bond as to the charge to Orange County which had a hold on him. (R 633)

On March 3, 1989, the State filed an Information charging Mr. Salser with Robbery with a Firearm in violation of Section 812.13(2)(a), Florida Statutes (1989). (R 634) On June 26, 1989, Mr. Salser sent a letter to the clerk of the court informing them that he was currently incarcerated in Orange County Jail and desired to appear for his court appearance in front of Judge McGregor in July. (R 635) On July 3, 1989, Mr. Salser did not appear for arraignment and a bench warrant was issued for his arrest. (R 636) However, this bench warrant was recalled on August 4, 1989. (R 638)

On August 10, 1989, Mr. Salser filed a <u>pro se</u> motion for discharge on the grounds that the State had failed to bring him to trial within the period permitted by the speedy trial rule. (R

657, 699) On August 15, 1989, the State filed a motion to strike the motion for discharge. (R 644 - 645) On November 6, 1989, Mr. Salser appeared before the Honorable Robert B. McGregor, Circuit Judge, for a hearing on his motion for discharge. It was noted that the motion was filed on August 10 and the motion to strike was filed on August 15, but that no hearing was ever held on either motion. (R 590 - 591) Judge McGregor determined that Mr. Salser was represented by the Public Defender's Office and granted the State's motion to strike the <u>pro se</u> motion for discharge. Defense counsel argued that the trial court had no authority since it failed to comply with the dictates of the speedy trial rule by failing to hold a hearing within five days of the motion. (R 594-597)

On November 17, 1989, Mr. Salser filed a petition for writ of prohibition with the Fifth District Court of Appeal. (R 678 - 707) By order dated November 22, 1989, the Fifth District Court of Appeal denied the petition for writ of prohibition. (R 752)

Mr. Salser proceeded to jury trial on the charge on November 27 - 28, 1989, with the Honorable Robert B. McGregor, Circuit Judge, presiding. (R 1 - 494) Following deliberations, the jury returned a verdict finding Mr. Salser guilty as charged. (R 486, 723)

On January 18, 1990, Mr. Salser again appeared before Judge McGregor for sentencing. (R 501 - 588) The State presented certified copies of prior judgments and sentences in an effort to

show that Appellant qualified for sentencing as an habitual offender. (R 767 - 810) Judge McGregor determined that Mr. Salser met the criteria for the habitual offender treatment and adjudicated him to be an habitual offender. (R 585) Judge McGregor then adjudicated Mr. Salser guilty and sentenced him to life in prison consecutive to the sentences imposed in Orange County. (R 585, 815 - 819)

Mr. Salser filed a timely Notice of Appeal on February 12, 1990. (R 821 - 822) Mr. Salser was adjudged insolvent and the Office of the Public Defender was appointed to represent him on appeal. (R 827)

On May 23, 1991, the Fifth District Court of Appeal affirmed Mr. Salser's conviction. Judge Cowart issued a written Dissenting Opinion.

On July 10, 1991, Mr. Salser's Motion for Rehearing, Rehearing En Banc, and Request for Certification was denied.

On August 9, 1991, Petitioner, Mr. Salser, filed a timely Notice to Invoke Jurisdiction. On November 27, 1991, this Court issued its order accepting jurisdiction and setting oral argument.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Inasmuch as Petitioner is raising no issue regarding the sufficiency of the evidence to support his conviction, the following brief summary of the facts is presented:

On the evening of February 16, 1989, a man entered the Pizza Hut Restaurant in Sanford and demanded money from the assistant manager. (R 133 - 135) The man had his hand in his pocket and exposed the barrel end of a firearm. (R 136) The man who robbed the Pizza Hut was identified by several people as Petitioner. (R 145, 203, 219) The police were immediately called and a description of the assailant was released via police radio. (R 271) Captain Charles Fagan saw a man matching the description of the person who had committed the robbery and followed him in his police vehicle. (R 272 - 273) Several other police vehicles joined in the chase which ended up in a field to the side of State Road 17-92. (R 274 - 276, 241 - 246) The person who was driving this car was identified as Petitioner. (R 248, 279)

A gun was found within ten feet of the passenger side of Petitioner's car. (R 323) Five live rounds of .38 caliber bullets were found in Petitioner's possession. (R 247) These bullets were compatible with the gun that was found. (R 303) A total of \$230 was recovered from the ground right outside the passenger side window of Petitioner's car and from Petitioner's person. (R 337, 346, 383) Five of the bills recovered from Petitioner's person had serial numbers which matched the serial numbers of the so-called bait money taken from the register of the Pizza Hut. (R 399 - 406)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Article I, Section 16 of the Florida Constitution provides that in all criminal prosecutions the accused shall have the right to be heard in person, by counsel, or both. This Court has previously held that this provision gives an accused a qualified right to self representation. The Fifth District Court of Appeal has apparently rejected this interpretation and held that Petitioner had no right to file a pro se motion for discharge simply because at some point previously counsel had been appointed to represent him. Such a ruling in effect holds that an accused may be denied basic fundamental rights simply because he is nominally represented by appointed counsel who does nothing to protect his client's rights. Such a holding is absurd and must be quashed.

Alternatively, this Court should simply apply the speedy trial rule and hold that the trial court erred by refusing to timely hold a hearing on a motion to discharge and thus lost jurisdiction to further rule in the case. In either situation, this Court should rule that Petitioner must be discharged.

ARGUMENT

THE DECISION OF THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL BELOW MISCONSTRUES ARTICLE I, SECTION 16 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION IN THAT IT HOLDS THAT AN INDIGENT DEFENDANT REPRESENTED BY COUNSEL HAS NO RIGHT TO PROCEED PRO SE DURING THE PERIOD OF REPRESENTATION.

The decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal below affirmed the trial court's decision to strike Petitioner's pro se motion for discharge because it was filed at the time he was represented by appointed counsel. In essence, the Fifth District Court of Appeal held that a person represented by counsel has no right to proceed pro se during the period of representation. Petitioner asserts that this holding is in clear conflict with Article I, Section 16 of the Florida Constitution and the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution.

Petitioner was arrested on Seminole County charges on February 16, 1989. (R 622) Thereafter, because the State failed to timely file charges, Petitioner was released to Orange County where he had similar charges pending. (R 633) However, on June 26, 1989, Petitioner sent a letter to the clerk of the court informing that office that he was in the Orange County Jail and noted that he had a court appearance in front of Judge McGregor in July. According to a notation by the clerk, a copy of this letter was sent to the State Attorney's office on June 28, 1989. (R 635) Petitioner filed a pro se motion for discharge on August 10, 1989, alleging that one hundred and seventy-five (175) days had passed since his arrest. (R 699,657) The only response to this motion

to discharge was a motion to strike filed by the State on August 15, 1989. (R 644-645) No hearing on the motion to discharge was held until November 6, 1989. (R 589-606) At that hearing, the trial court simply granted the State's motion to strike the motion for discharge on the grounds that Petitioner was represented by the Public Defender's Office and therefor could not file a pro se motion for discharge. (R 601) Defense counsel argued that under the Speedy Trial Rule the trial court was required to hold a hearing within five days of the filing of the motion for discharge. (R 594-597) Failing to hold this hearing within the prescribed time does not permit the court to later strike the motion for discharge. (R 594)

On appeal, the Fifth District Court of Appeal affirmed the decision of the trial court. Salser v. State, 582 So.2d 12 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991) The court held that the pro se motion for discharge was a nullity since Petitioner was represented by counsel at the time that the motion was filed. In so ruling, the court aligned itself with the First District Court of Appeal in Johnson v. State, 501 So.2d 94 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987) where the court concluded that a pro se motion for discharge was a nullity and that the defendant's remedy, if any were appropriate, would be a motion for post conviction relief based on ineffective assistance of counsel.

In a sharply worded dissent, Judge Cowart held that the pro se motion for discharge should not be treated as a nullity. As he noted, Article I, Section 16 of the Florida Constitution

provides in relevant part that "in all criminal prosecutions the accused ... shall have the right ... to be heard in person, by counsel, or both ... " (emphasis added) Noting that this Court in State v. Tait, 387 So.2d 338 (Fla. 1980) ruled that this provision of the Constitution has been interpreted as giving an accused a qualified right to self representation, Judge Cowart concluded that if this Constitutional language means anything, it is that an otherwise valid pro se motion which would entitle the accused to discharge cannot be denied simply because the accused, rather than his court-appointed counsel, filed it. Judge Cowart further noted that in the instant case, there was no conflict between the Petitioner personally demanding a speedy trial and whatever trial preparation his appointed counsel was doing. Judge Cowart concluded that it would not have placed any undue burden on the trial court to simply rule on the motion for discharge on its merits since it expended the same amount of time and consideration on the State's motion to strike.

In Faretta v, California, 422 U.S. 806, 95 S.Ct. 2525, 45 L.Ed.2d 562 (1974) the United States Supreme Court held that a defendant in a state criminal trial has a constitutional right to proceed without counsel when he voluntarily and intelligently elects to do so. The Supreme Court once again noted that the Sixth Amendment right to the assistance of counsel implicitly embodies a correlative right to dispense with the lawyer's help. The Court further noted that the right to assistance of counsel was intended to supplement the other rights of the defendant and not to impair

the absolute and primary right to conduct one's own defense in propria persona. 422 U.S. at 816. Both the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 16 of the Florida Constitution provide certain rights which must be given to the accused. As the United States Supreme Court noted in Faretta:

The Sixth Amendment does not provide merely that a defense shall be made for the accused: it grants to the accused personally the right to make his defense.

422 U.S. at 819. It is the accused's right to have a speedy trial, not the lawyer's right to secure a speedy trial for his client.

In essence, the Fifth District Court of Appeal by its decision has ruled that the right to a speedy trial can be denied simply because an accused has a less-than-diligent lawyer who never seeks to enforce the right on behalf of his client. Such a conclusion is absurd. In Johnson v. Wainwright, 463 So.2d 207 (Fla. 1985) this Court noted: "Just as the accused has the right to assistance of counsel, he also has the right to assist his counsel in conducting the defense." Id. at 211.

In State v. Tait, 387 So.2d 338 (Fla. 1980) this Court ruled that Article I, Section 16 of the Florida Constitution provides that an accused has a qualified right to self-representation. When the accused is represented by counsel, the question of affording him the privilege of addressing the court on his own behalf is a matter left to the sound discretion of the court. Despite this clear statement by this Court, the Fifth District Court of Appeal in the majority opinion below, ruled that

there simply is no qualified right to dual representation. In this regard, the decision is clearly erroneous.

Petitioner is not contending that in all cases an accused who is represented by counsel should be permitted the absolute right to proceed pro se at the same time. However, the instant case presents one of those circumstances wherein he should be permitted the right to proceed in a fashion which protects his own rights. To rule otherwise, would in fact, deny Petitioner his right to secure basic fundamental rights.

Petitioner asserts that this Court can decide the instant case without reference to the Constitutional question by simply interpreting Rule 3.191, Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure which sets forth the procedure for enforcing the speedy trial rule. In the case of a felony charge, the Rule provides that the accused must be brought to trial within one hundred seventy-five (175) days of being taken into custody. The Rule further provides that upon expiration of this time period, a motion for discharge is timely. Rule 3.191(i)(3), Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure provides:

No later than 5 days from the date of the filing of a motion for discharge, the court shall hold a hearing on the motion, and unless the court finds that one of the reasons set forth in Section (d)(3) exists, shall order that the defendant be brought to trial within 10 days. If the defendant is not brought to trial within the 10 day period through no fault of the defendant, the defendant shall be forever discharged from the crime. (emphasis added)

This provision has been interpreted as placing a duty on the State to afford an accused a hearing and where the State fails to timely hold this hearing, the trial court loses jurisdiction to thereafter conduct a trial on the charges. Ariza V. Cvzmanick, 548 So.2d 304 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989); Lenard v. Moxley, 497 So.2d 973 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986); and Massev V. Graziano, 564 So.2d 287 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990).

In the instant case, Petitioner filed his motion for discharge on August 10, 1989. It is clear that neither the State nor the trial court timely held a hearing on Petitioner's motion for discharge. In fact, no hearing was held until some three months later at which time the trial court simply struck the motion for discharge. At this hearing, defense counsel argued that the only option to the trial court upon receiving the motion for discharge is to hold a hearing. Failing to do so does not permit a trial court to later strike a motion for discharge.

Petitioner asserts that the State's motion to strike his pro se motion for discharge solely because he was represented by counsel was incorrectly granted. First, it is true that at Petitioner's First Appearance hearing held on February 17, 1989, the Judge appointed a public defender to represent Petitioner. (R 629) However, at the next two scheduled court appearances on March 13, 1989, and March 16, 1989, Petitioner appeared without counsel. (R 632,633) Thus, it was certainly reasonable for Petitioner to assume that he did not have a public defender representing him. Second, Petitioner should be able to assert his rights under the speedy trial rule personally. To deny him this right simply because at some point months earlier, counsel had been appointed and did nothing to protect Petitioner's rights, amounts to a denial

of effective assistance of counsel. Third, the instant case is not a situation where Petitioner was trying to handcuff his appointed counsel. There is nothing in the record to indicate that either Petitioner or his counsel were not prepared to go to trial within 15 days of the filing of the motion for discharge.

Petitioner further notes that the decision below is in conflict with a previous opinion by the same court in Cain v. State, 565 So.2d 875 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990). In that case, the defendant and his attorney could not agree on the exercise of peremptory challenges. The trial court permitted the defendant to exercise the peremptories personally, against the judgment of his attorney who had conducted the voir dire examination, On appeal, the Fifth District Court of Appeal affirmed and held that where trial strategy is concerned, it is the defendant personally who must make the ultimate decision even when he is represented by Certainly, the decision to seek discharge for violation of speedy trial is a matter of trial strategy. As such, the defendant should personally have the final say on whether to exercise this right. The right to counsel means nothing if it can be used to thwart the other rights of a criminal defendant.

In summary, Petitioner asserts that the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal below is incorrect insofar as it holds that a defendant is prohibited from personally exercising any of his constitutionally protected rights simply because at some point earlier counsel has been appointed to represented him. In a case such as this, where the Petitioner is much more diligent at

protecting his constitutional rights than his court appointed counsel, he should not be punished for the ineffectiveness of his counsel. Further, Rule 3.191, Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure provides that upon the timely filing of the motion for discharge, the State is absolutely required to hold a hearing on such a motion within 5 days. Failure to hold this hearing precludes the trial court from later exercising jurisdiction over the case. The decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal below must be quashed with instructions that Petitioner be discharged.

CONCLUSION

BASED UPON the foregoing cases, authorities and policies, the Petitioner requests that this Honorable Court to quash the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal and remand the case with instructions that Petitioner be discharged.