OA 4-10-92

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

SID J. WHITE

JAN 27 1992

CLERK, SUPREME COURT.

By Chief C.

GENE SALSER,

٧.

Petitioner,

_ ______

CASE NO. 78,439

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

MERITS BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

DAVID S. MORGAN
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Florida Bar No, 651265
210 N. Palmetto Avenue
Suite 447
Daytona Beach, FL 32114
(904) 238-4990

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

The state disagrees with the **defense** statement to the extent that it is favorable to the defendant. The following statement is presented in a fashion conducive to approving the decision of the district court in which the judgment and sentence were affirmed.

The defendant was arrested on February 16, 1989 (R 622).

At the request of the defendant, the public defender's office was appointed at first appearance on February 17, 1989, to represent him (R 626). The representation was for the duration of the cause unless otherwise ordered by the court:

ORDER APPOINTING PUBLIC DEFENDER

In reliance upon the above representations of the Defendant, it is hereby

ORDERED that the Defendant be declared indigent within the meaning of Section 27.52, Florida Statutes, (1979) and it is further

ORDERED that the Office of the Public Defender of the Eighteenth Judicial Circuit is hereby appointed to represent $th\,e$ defendant in this case until relieved by Order of the Court.

DONE **AND** ORDERED in Sanford, Seminole County, Florida, this 17 day of February, 1989.

s/ JUDGE

(R 626)

The information charging the defendant with armed **robbery** was filed on March 23, 1989 (R 634; *note* that the initial merits

1

The parties are referred to **as** the defendant and the state. References to the record are indicated "(R and page)"; those to the initial merits brief, if any, are denoted "(B and page)".

brief appears to have a typographical error, **as** it indicates that the document was filed on the third of March (B 1)).

Counsel for the defendant filed a demand for discovery on July 18, 1989 (R 637). The state timely served its answer on August 2, 1989 (R 640).

Although the record reveals that the defendant served the state attorney with a motion to discharge on August 10, 1989 (R 658; 700; see also R 644-645), the motion was not filed in the trial court. The index to the record on appeal reflects the dates of filing. Volume IV indicates that a copy of an earlier issued bench warrant was filed in the clerk's office on August 9, 1989 (R 642). The next document filed, court minutes, was entered on August 14, 1989 (R 643).

The motion for discharge was never independently filed with the court. It was not submitted until October 12, 1989, when it was filed as a mere exhibit to the defendant's motion to dismiss (R 657).

On November 6, 1989, a hearing was held on the motion to dismiss (R 589-606). Although the trial judge stated that he was striking all of the pro se pleadings that had been filed while the defendant was represented by the public defender's office (R 601), the written order on the motion to discharge indicated that the motion was granted to the extent that the state was bound by the mandatory time limits of the rule (R 676).

The parties, including the defendant personally, stipulated to an extension of the ten day speedy trial period and that a trial commenced by November 27, 1989, would be considered timely

(R 709-710). An order to that effect was rendered (R 710). Trial commenced on that date (R 1, $et\ seq.$).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The district court correctly affirmed as the trial court properly followed the dictates of the Florida Rule of Judicial Administration 2.060(d) by not considering a pro se motion for discharge when the defendant was represented by counsel. Rather than rendering the rule ambiguous by issuing a decision that allows conduct contrary to the clear dictates of the rule, it would better serve the interests of judicial economy to require defendants such as Salser to seek the already available means of seeking relief by alleging ineffectiveness of counsel in a motion for post conviction relief filed pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850.

Moreover, the facts of this **case** are poor **ones** upon which to carve out an exception to the requirements of the rule. The defense does not appear to have been ready for trial when the defendant served the state with the *pro se* motion for discharge. The answer to the demand for discovery was not filed until a mere eight **days** before. Furthermore, the instant defendant simply failed to file the motion in the trial court. As a result, the requirements of the speedy trial rule were not activated because the court was not presented with the motion.

ARGUMENT

THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL COURT OF APPEAL CORRECTLY AFFIRMED BECAUSE THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY FOLLOWED A RULE OF PROCEDURE ESTABLISHED BY THIS COURT.

"The plain language of the rules promulgated by the Supreme Court of Florida are binding upon the trial and appellate courts." State v. Battle, 362 So.2d 782, 783 (Fla. 3d DCA 1974) (citations omitted). "Rules of practice and procedure adopted by this Court are binding on the court and the clerk as well as litigants and counsel." State v. Lott, 286 So.2d 565, 566 (Fla. 1973) (citations omitted); see also In re Hill v. HCA Health Services of Florida, Inc., 582 So.2d 701, 704, n. 3 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991) (citations omitted). Florida Rule of Judicial Administration 2.060(d) provides in material part:

Every pleading and other paper of a party represented by an attorney shall be signed by at least one attorney of record . . The signature of an attorney shall constitute a certificate by him that he has read the pleading or other paper; that to the best of his knowledge, information, and belief, there is good ground to support it; and that it is not interposed far delay. If a pleading is not signed or is signed with intent to defeat the purpose of this rule, it may be stricken and the action may proceed as though the pleading or other paper had not been served.

Fla.R.Jud.Admin. 2.060(d) (emphases added); see also Beverly v. State, 516 So.2d 30, 31 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987), held "pro se motion for discharge filed while appellant was being represented by court-appointed counsel is a nullity." In accord Johnson v. State, 501 So.2d 94, 96 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987).

There was no reason for the district court below to interpret the above rule **as** its terms are unambiguous. When an accused is represented by legal counsel the attorney must sign pleadings that are filed in the court. The policy behind the rule is obvious. The rule ensures that the heavily burdened trial courts do not have to expend limited time considering frivolous matters. This consideration is especially important because of the accelerated schedule triggered by the filing of a motion for discharge. The speedy trial rule provides in material part:

No later than 5 days from the date of the filing of a motion for discharge, the court shall hold a hearing on the motion, and unless the court finds that one of the reasons set forth in section (d)(3) exists, shall order that the defendant be brought to trial within 10 days. If the defendant is not brought to trial within the 10 day period through no fault of the defendant, the defendant shall be forever discharged from the crime.

Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.191(i)(3).

As this court is aware, it and other appellate courts routinely strike pro se pleadings of appellants who are represented by legal counsel. A trial court faced with a motion for discharge does not have the luxury of time enjoyed by appellate courts. Scheduling of a hearing within five days is mandatory without consideration of the court's docket.

"A conclusion or decision of a trial court will generally be affirmed, even when based on erroneous reasoning, if the evidence or an alternate theory supports it." Caso v. State, 524 So.2d 422, 424 (Fla. 1988) (citations omitted); see also Combs v. State, 436 So.2d 92, 96 (Fla. 1983). More specifically, "[i]f there is any theory upon which the trial court might properly have denied petitioner's motion for discharge, then the district court was correct in affirming, even though the trial court's stated or indicated reasons be erroneous." Stuart v. State, 360 So.2d 406, 408 (Fla. 1978) (citation omitted). Under the facts of this case there are additional reasons to deny relief to the defendant.

The public defender's office was appointed to represent the defendant on February 17, 1989 (R 626). The defendant served a copy of the *pro se* motion for discharge upon the state attorney's office on August 10, 1989 (R 658; 700). However, it is not clear that he was entitled to discharge. The speedy trial rule also provides:

trial of the accused does not commence within the periods of time established by this Rule, a pending motion for discharge shall be granted by the court unless it is shown that (i) a time extension has been ordered under (d)(2) and that extension has not expired, or (ii) the failure to hold trial is attributable to the accused, a co-defendant in **the** same trial, or their counsel, or (iii) the accused was unavailable for trial under section (e), or (iv) the demand referred to in section (c) is invalid. If the court finds that the discharge is not appropriate for reasons under (d)(3)(ii), (iii), or (iv), the pending motion for discharge shall be denied provided however, trial shall be scheduled and commenced within 90 days of a written **or** recorded **order** of denial.

Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.191(d)(3).

The record suggests that the defense may very well have been unprepared for trial (subsection (iii)). Counsel for the defendant filed a demand for discovery on July 18, 1989 (R 637). The state timely served its answer on August 2, 1989 (R 640). Assuming, arguendo, that thew defendant was somehow prejudiced by his attorney's actions, the appropriate remedy is not to permit defendants such as the defendant to file pro se pleadings in derogation of the procedural rules. Rather, as the First District Court of Appeal pointed out in Johnson, supra, such individuals can seek post conviction relief by alleging ineffectiveness of counsel. 1d., 96.

The district court below did not in effect decide that one who is represented by counsel has no right to represent him or herself during the period of representation $(B ext{ } 6)$. contrary, the Salser decision is limited to the issue of filing pro se pleadings before trial. The state constitution provides that "in all criminal prosecutions the accused . . . shall have the right . . , to be heard in person, by counsel or both . . . " Art. I, §16, Fla. Const. This court has already interpreted this clause as providing "a qualified, not an absolute, right to selfrepresentation." State v. Tait, 387 So.2d 338, 340 (Fla. 1980). This court concluded "that article I, section 16 does not embody a right of one accused of crime to representation both by counsel The claim that an accused is entitled and by himself." *Id*. under the decision in Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 95 S.Ct. 2525, 45 L, Ed, 2d 562 (1974), to simultaneous legal counsel and self-representation was directly rejected:

Although recognizing th[e] right representation, . the Faretta decision does not "hybrid" to the form establish right representation which respondent sought. The sixth amendment does not quarantee that the accused can make his own defense personally and have the assistance of counsel.

387 So.2d at 339-340; see also Whitfield v. State, 517 So.2d 23 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987); Sheppard v. State, 391 So.2d 346, 347 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980).

The Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals has held similarly.

"It is the law of this circuit that the right to counsel and the right to proceed pro se exist in the alternative and the decision to permit a defendant to proceed in a hybrid fashion rests in the sound discretion of the trial court." United States v. LaChance, 817

F.2d 1491, 1498 (11th Cir. 1987) (citations omitted), cert. denied 484 U.S. 928, 108 S.Ct. 295, 98 L.Ed.2d 255 (1987). Other federal appellate courts have held the same. See United States v. Treff, 924 F.2d 975, 979, n. 6 (10th Cir. 1991); United States v. Payne, 923 F.2d 595, 598 (8th Cir. 1991); United States u. Niuica, 887 F.2d 1110, 1121 (1st Cir. 1989); Neal v. State of Texas, 870 F.2d 312, 315 (5th Cir. 1989); United States v. Tarantino, 846 F.2d 1384, 1420 (D.C. Cir. 1988); United States v. Bergman, 813 F.2d 1027, 1030 (9th Cir. 1987), held no abuse of discretion in refusing to acknowledge pro se pleadings of defendant who was represented by counsel; United States v. Mosely, 810 F.2d 93, 97-98 (6th Cir. 1987).

Perhaps most importantly, the instant defendant did **not** file the motion for discharge in the trial court. The index to the record on appeal reflects the dates of filing. Volume IV indicates that a copy of an earlier issued bench warrant was filed in the **clerk's** office on August 9, 1989 (R 642). The next document filed, court minutes, was entered on August 14, 1989 (R 643). The motion for discharge was never independently filed with the court. It was not submitted until October 12, 1989, when it was filed as exhibit number 4 to the defendant's motion to dismiss (R 657; see also Salser v. State, 582 So.2d 12, 13 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991)). This court has held:

Florida's speedy trial rule, Florida Rule of Criminal **Procedure 3.191,** protects **a** constitutional right enunciated in Florida's Declaration of Rights, article I, section **16,** Florida Constitution. This fundamental right is neither unwaivable nor self-executing.

Johnson v. State, 442 So. 2d 193, 196 (Fla. 1983).

The "filing of such a motion . . . is the only procedural means by which a defendant may trigger any right whatever afforded by the speedy trial rule." State v. Velez, 524 So.2d 1157, 1158 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988) (citations omitted). As the defense never filed the motion for discharge, other than as a mere attachment to other later motions, the defendant simply never triggered the speedy trial rule and was, therefore, not entitled to relief in the trial court.

In short, the district court correctly affirmed as the trial court properly followed the dictates of Florida Rule of Judicial Administration 2.060(d) by not considering a pro se motion for discharge when the defendant was represented by counsel. Rather than rendering the rule ambiguous by issuing a decision that allows conduct contrary to the clear dictates of the rule, it would better serve the interests of judicial economy to require defendants such as Salser to seek the already available means of seeking relief by alleging ineffectiveness of counsel in a motion for post conviction relief filed pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850.

Moreover, the facts of this case are poor ones upon which to carve out an exception to the requirements of Florida Rule of Judicial Administration 2.060. *Cf. Jones v. State*, 484 So.2d 577, 579 (Fla. 1986). The defense does not appear to have been ready for trial when the defendant served the state with the *pro se* motion for discharge. The answer to the demand for discovery was not filed until a mere eight days before, Furthermore, the instant defendant simply failed to file the motion in the trial

court. As a result, the requirements of the speedy trial rule were not activated because the court was not presented with the motion.

CONCLUSION

The decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal should be approved.